
TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: (207) 475-1329 Fax: (207) 439-6806 
                                

      
Council Chambers – 5:00PM 
Animal Control Workshop 

 
 

Kittery Town Council 
Regular Meeting 

6:00 p.m. 
March 9, 2020 

      
1. Call to Order 

2. Introductory 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Roll Call   

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 

6. Town Manager’s Report   

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes – April 22, 2019 – Regular Meeting and May 6, 2019 -            
     Special meeting.   

8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board  

Board of Appeals (three appointments each expiring 12/31/2023). 

• April Timko 

• Jeff Brake 

• Barry Fitzpatrick 
 

9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town                 
 consultants or requested offices.  

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

a. (030120-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to Amend Title 3 - TIF 
#1 and #2.   

b. (030120-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing in accordance with       
 Sec. 06.09(4) of the Kittery Town Charter to transfer appropriations between accounts. 



c. (030120-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve a Warrant   
 Article to expand the Gorges Road Station and surplus the Walker Street Fire Station for the 
 June 9, 2020 Town Meeting Secret Ballot Election and make its recommendation on the       
 article.  

d. (030120-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve a Warrant   
 Article to appropriate $500,000 for the Wood Island Pier for the June 9, 2020 Town Meeting 
 Secret Ballot Election and make its recommendation on the article.  

11. DISCUSSION 

a.  Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person)  
b.  Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor 
c.  Chairperson’s response to public comments 

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS –  

13. NEW BUSINESS 

a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition.  

b. (030120-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the disbursement warrants. 

c. (030120-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on March 23,2020 
 to amend Title 5 to add Short Term Rentals.  

d. (030120-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to review and finalize the wording on the           
 Warrant Articles for the June 9, 2020 Town Meeting Secret Ballot Election and make its        
 recommendations on each article.  

e.  (030120-8) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License from the  
 Dance Hall located at 7 Walker Street. 

f.  (030120-9) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License from        
 Maine Beer Café located at 439 US Route 1 Suite 1.  

g. (030120-10) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License from The 
View at Pepperrell Cove located at 90 Pepperrell Road.   

h. (030120-11) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve an Extension of License on 
Premise for the View at Pepperrell Cove locate at 90 Pepperrell Road.   

14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 

15. COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 

a. Communications from the Chairperson  
b. Committee Reports  



16. EXECUTIVE SESSION - 

 a. (030120-12) The Kittery Town Council moves to go into Executive Session with the Town 
Manager and Town Attorney in accordance with 1 M.R.S. §405 (6) (A) to discuss or 
consider complaints regarding appointees, where public discussion could be reasonably 
expected to cause damage to an individual’s reputation or right to privacy.  

17. ADJOURNMENT     
         
 
Posted:  March 5, 2020 
 



 

 
Town Manager’s Report to the Town Council 

March 9, 2020 
 

 

1. Presidential Primary Election – I wish to thank our Election Warden, Deputy Warden, Town Clerk, 
and all of the election workers for their efforts in administering the Presidential Primary Election.  The 
closed primary had not been held in Maine for over 20 years, and this proved to be a learning 
opportunity for the staff and voters.  We appreciate the patience and kindness many showed the workers 
and each other, as we worked to administer this election.  Some items of note: 
 
Our voter registration rolls were found to be missing pages (people) mid-morning of the election.  We 
learned from the Secretary of State that a technology glitch caused an issue with the download of the list 
and resulted in missing pages.  We understand we were not the only community to experience this issue.  
The Secretary of State’s Office was tremendously responsive and provided us with a complete list of 
registered voters quickly after identifying the issue. 
 
Unenrolled voter processing proved to be very time consuming and confusing for some voters. Unlike 
our regular elections, unenrolled (undeclared) voters needed to re-register and declare a party in order to 
receive a presidential primary ballot.  The registration takes time to complete.  Voters were vocal about 
their frustration with the added step of re-registering and the impact on their time.   Staff did their best to 
weather through, keep up with the lines, and answer questions. 
 
Lack of ballots was also a challenge by mid-afternoon.  The Town received permission from the 
Secretary of State’s Office to photocopy ballots in order to make sure every voter who wanted to vote 
could.  Photocopied ballots cannot be run through the tallying machines; and had to be hand counted at 
the end of the evening. 
 
There were a number of lessons learned from this election.  We are in the process of incorporating them 
into our planning for the June and November elections. 
 

2. Coronavirus COVID-19 – Our Emergency Management team is working to stay abreast of the 
developments and guidelines related to COVID-19 and review readiness for a potential outbreak.  We 
are in direct contact with York County Emergency Management on a regular basis and are receiving 
daily briefings from the State. 

 
Generally of concern for us right now are exposure for first responders and ensuring we are prepared for 
mutual aid impacts; exposure/large scale infection of schools/town buildings and the continuity of 
operations; impact on local supplies and business operations if there is a large scale outbreak in Kittery; 
and impact on local businesses utilizing J-1 students who may be quarantined or prevented from 
traveling due to the virus.   
 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
kamaral@kitteryme.org  



 

For additional information about COVID-19, please visit the Centers for Disease Control at 
www.cdc.gov.  Good hand hygiene, covering coughs and sneezes, and staying home if people feel sick 
will go a long way to protecting Maine and Kittery against the spread of the virus. 

 
 

Upcoming Dates: 
 Mooring Permit Renewals Due – April 15, Harbormaster or Online 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Kendra Amaral 
Town Manager 



1 | P a g e  
 

Kittery Town Council Draft Minutes 
 April 22, 2019 

Regular Meeting 
Town Hall – Council Chambers 

WORKSHOP 

Kittery Athletic Field Improvement Committee Workshop 5:00pm 
 
 
1. Call to Order 1 
 
2. Introductory 2 
 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 
 
4.         Roll Call   4 
 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Cyrus Clark 5 
Kenneth Lemont, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller. 6 
 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 7 
 
            Chair Spiller added item I to New Business. 8 

 
6. Town Manager’s Report  9 
 
 Town Manager reported on: Shared Dispatch Services, Financial Report FY2019,  10 
            Annual Goal Report, and Fort Foster Path Repair. Upcoming dates Library 11 

Design Workshop April 24, 2019 6 p.m., Kittery Community Center, and Drug  12 
Take-Back Day April 27, 10 a.m. – 2 p.m., Kittery Police Department. 13 
 

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes – None 14 
 
8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board – None 15 
 
9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town  16 

consultants or requested officials. 17 
 

(040219-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to receive a presentation by Jessa Kellogg, 18 
Shoreland Resource Officer/Stormwater Coordinator and Kristie Rabasca from 19 
Integrates Environmental Engineering on the MS4 Permit for Stormwater Discharges. 20 
 
Kristie Rabasca gave the MS4 General Permit presentation. Jessa Kellogg did not 21 
attend. 22 
 
Vice Chair Brock and Kristie Rabasca discussed the presentation.  23 
 

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 24 
 

(040219-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing for a New 25 
Victualer’s License application for El Grand Rodeo, 230 US Route 1 Bypass Kittery, 26 
Maine.  27 
 
Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 28 
 
Motion Carried - 7-0-0 29 

 



2 | P a g e  
 

(040219-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing for a New 30 
Victualer’s License application for LoveBird’s Donuts 450 US Route 1 Kittery, Maine. 31 
 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 32 
 

Motion Carried - 7-0-0 33 
 

Discussion between Councilors Denault, Lemont, Thomson, Pelletier, Vice Chair Brock, 34 
Chair Spiller, and Town Manager about LoveBirds being issued a 2-day limited permit 35 
that would allow the business to operate on the sidewalk, but LoveBirds continued 36 
operating beyond the 2-days which was a violation. Also discussed if fines should be 37 
issued to LoveBirds.   38 
 

Councilor Thomson moved for an Amendment to his motion to ask the appropriate Town 39 
staff to review the circumstances of the past two weeks with this establishment to make 40 
their determination if some further action on the behalf of the town would be warranted., 41 
seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 42 
 

Councilor Denault, Councilor Lemont, Councilor Thomson, Councilor Clark, and Vice 43 
Chair Brock voted to approved. 44 
 

Chair Spiller and Councilor Pelletier voted not to approve. 45 
 

Motion Carried - 5-2-0 46 
 

(040219-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing regarding Title1-47 
KPA Fines. 48 
 

Town Manager gave an overview of Title1-KPA Fines. 49 
 

 Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 50 
 

 Motion Carried - 7-0-0     51 
      

11. DISCUSSION 52 
a.  Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person) - None 53 
b.  Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor - None 54 
c.  Chairperson’s response to public comments - None 55 

 

12.    UNFINISHED BUSINESS - None  56 
 

13. NEW BUSINESS 57 
 

a.  Donations/gifts received for Council disposition.  58 
  

(040219-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept donations in the amount of 59 
$4,370 to be deposited into the Thresher Memorial Fund.               60 

                         

 

• John Pearson & Elinor Lamson 61 
• Perry Plumbing & Heating, Inc. 62 
• Terence Malloy 63 
• Randall and Sharen Spratt 64 
• Bib and Karen Longcrier 65 
• David and Carol Ogilvie 66 



3 | P a g e  
 

• Arnold and Catherine Harrison 67 
• Walter Allen 68 
• John Robbins and Shaye McGann 69 
• Michael Fiandaca 70 
• Thomas and Pamela Clairmont 71 
• Two Sons, LLC 72 
• Anne and Steven Barton 73 
• Patricia and Vaughn Kailian 74 
• Bob McGinness 75 
• H. Lauren Gallant 76 
• Irene and David Couture 77 
• Sophia Scontras 78 
• William and Constance Parsons 79 
• Alalia and Frederick Thaler 80 
• Richard and Suzanne Bicknell 81 
• Gail Tanner 82 
• Alfred and Cynthia Benton 83 
• Lorraine Wheeler-Salt River Farm 84 
• The Fabulous Find 85 

 
Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Denault. 86 
 
Motion Carried- 7-0-0 87 

 
      b.  (040219-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the disbursement           88 
              warrants. 89 

 
  Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier.  90 
 
  Motion Carried- 7-0-0 91 

 
  c.  (040219-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing for       92 
       May 29, 2019 for Title 8 E-911 Street naming. 93 

 
 Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 94 
 

   Motion Carried- 7-0-0 95 
 
                   d.   (040219-8) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a request from the         96 
                         Veterans of Foreign Wars, Kittery/Eliot Memorial Post 9394 to hold their              97 
                         Memorial Day Parade and Ceremonies on May 25, 2019. 98 

 
 Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 99 
 
 Motion Carried- 7-0-0   100 

 
 e.  (040219-9) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a request from the          101 
      National Multiple Sclerosis Society, Greater New England Market, Bike MS          102 
      event. Their cyclists will be biking through Kittery, Saturday, August 24, 2019. 103 

 
Moved by Councilor Denault, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 104 
 
Motion Carried- 7-0-0 105 

 
       f.  (040219-10) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor            106 



4 | P a g e  
 

            License application from Anju Noodle Bar 7 Wallingford Square Unit 102, Kittery. 107 
 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 108 
 

Motion Carried- 7-0-0 109 
 
       g. (040219-11) The Kittery Town Council moves to appropriate $50,000 of                110 
           Unassigned Funds in accordance with Warrant Article 7, approved on June 12,    111 
           2018 for the LED Street Lighting conversion project. 112 

 
Town Manager gave an overview of the LED Street Lighting conversion project. 113 
 
Moved by Councilor Denault, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 114 
 
Motion Carried- 7-0-0 115 

 
 h.  (040119-12) The Kittery Town Council moves approve the Emergency                 116 
      Management Plan.  117 

 
Moved by Councilor Denault, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 118 
 
Fire Department Chief David O’Brien gave an overview of the Emergency 119 
Management Plan.  120 

 
Motion Carried - 7-0-0 121 
 

  i.  Kittery Town Councilor moves the appointment of Deborah Driscoll to the Kittery 122 
Climate Adaptation Committee Business Representative. 123 
 
Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 124 
 
Motion Carried - 7-0-0 125 
 

14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 126 
 
 Vice Chair Brock discussed green space in Kittery Foreside. 127 
 

Councilor Denault discussed Earth Day, lost dog on Litchfield and Picott Road as well as 128 
Riley Way, and the passing of Carl Dawson and former Kittery Police Officer Ronald 129 
Vermette.  Recognizing the Kittery Color Guard for attending Ronald Vermette’s funeral 130 
Chief Robert Richter, Sargent Gary Eaton, Detective Brian Cummer, Officer Zach 131 
Harmon, Officer Ben Cyr, and Officer Greg Caldwell. 132 
 

15.   COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 133 
 

a. Communications from the Chairperson 134 
 

Chair Spiller discussed the lights on Government and State, as well as Walker and State 135 
traffic still turning into the crosswalk, Earth Day, speeding on 103, and Public Hearing on 136 
May 6, 2019 at 6 p.m. on the Town and School Budget.   137 
  
b. Committee Reports - None 138 

 
16.  EXECUTIVE SESSION - None 139 
 
17.   ADJOURNMENT 140 



6 | P a g e  
 

   
         
 
 
           Submitted by Kim Tackett 

 

          Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the                  

           meeting.  Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the                        

           information, the minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the      

           meeting, but a summary of the discussion and actions that took place. For complete        

           details, please refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website. 

 

 



Kittery Town Council DRAFT Minutes 

May 6, 2019 

  Special Meeting Agenda 

Town Hall – Council Chambers 
Requested by Chairperson Spiller 

1 | P a g e  
 

1. Introductory 1 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 2 
 

3. Roll Call 3 
 
Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Kenneth Lemont, Jeffrey 4 
Thomson, Vice Chair Matt Brock and Chair Judith Spiller. Councilors absent: Cyrus 5 
Clark. 6 
 

4. Call to Order 7 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 8 
 

a. (050119-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold public hearing on the School Budget 9 
Validation Referendum.  10 
 
No action needed. 11 

 
b. (050119-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve an 12 

ordinance entitled “Ordinance Approving Additional Local Funds for School Budget for 13 
Fiscal Year 2019-2020.”  14 
 
Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 15 
 
Motion Carried 6-0-0 16 
 

c. (050119-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve an    17 
ordinance entitled “Ordinance Approving School Budget for Fiscal Year 2019-2020.” 18 
 
Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 19 
 
Motion Carried 6-0-0 20 
  

d. (050119-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve an 21 
ordinance entitled “Ordinance Approving Transfer of School Year-End Balances to 22 
Dedicated Accounts” for spending in the 2019-2020 fiscal year. 23 
 
Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 24 
 
Motion Carried 6-0-0 25 
 

e. (050119-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve and sign 26 
the warrant for the School Budget Validation Referendum for June 11, 2019.  27 
 



2 | P a g e  
 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 28 
 
Motion Carried 6-0-0 29 
 

f. (050119-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve and sign 30 
the warrant for the Town Meeting Election for June 11, 2019.  31 

 
Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 32 
 
Motion Carried 6-0-0 33 
  

6. ADJOURNMENT 34 
 
Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Denault, all were in favor. 35 

 

 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

 

 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. 

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 

minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 

summary of the discussion and actions that took place. For complete details, please 

refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website. 









 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  
 

Meeting Date: February 24, 2020 

UPATED:  March 9, 2020 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: TIF Districts No. 1 and No. 2  

Councilor Sponsor: Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Tax Increment Financing Districts No. 1 and No. 2 were approved in December of 2010 and last 
thirty years.  The districts are segregating approximately $219,994 annually from the Municipal budget.  
The current accumulated balance in these two district-funds is approximately $655,527.   The Districts 
do not expire until approximately 2040. 
 
Development over the past five years in the two districts have occurred irrespective of the district 
designations and without the need for public infrastructure investment.  The developments have added 
to the Town’s tax valuation, however the generated tax revenue from the added value is segregated from 
the municipal budget and not usable for general municipal operations. 
 
The districts were adopted in 2010 primarily to spur job creation.  Ten years later, the town’s 
unemployment rate is 2.7% compared to a state average of 2.9% and a national average of 3.5%.  The 
development goals of the town have shifted to affordable housing, multi-modal transit, and the 
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions.  These two districts no longer align with the development goals 
for the identified parcels.  
 
At this time, the recommendation is to dissolve Districts No. 1 and No. 2 and appropriate the 
accumulated tax revenue funds to specific capital and infrastructure that carries forward the general 
vision of the districts.   
 
Additionally, it is recommended that the Town analyze the opportunity for new TIF districts that are 
transportation and housing oriented, and associated with parcels where these priorities are best located.   
 
BACKGROUND 
TIF Districts No. 1 and No. 2 were created in a three-TIF district package in late 2010.  The two 
districts include parcels primarily along Route 1 with one section covering Pepperrell Cove.  The parcels 
are not contiguous.   
 
The public facilities, improvements and programs identified for the districts include roads to facilitate 
commercial development, improvements to roads directly related to or made necessary by the districts, 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL   MEETING DATE FEBRUARY 24, 2020 

  UPDATED: MARCH 9, 2020 

2 

 

trolleys and trolley stops, sewer and water system improvements, economic development planning, and 
administrative expenses associated with development.   
 
Of the parcels in the two districts, multiple development projects have been permitted and constructed 
including: Hampton Inn & Suites (30-41), Landmark Hill (67-02), Weathervane Site (38-13), Sowerby 
Parcel/Nursing Home (60-24), Yankee Settlement (66-24/25), Pepperrell Cove (27-49/50).  The 
projects are advancing without public road, sewer or water infrastructure enhancements, or credit 
enhancement agreements.  District No. 1 has increased in value by $1,790,300 and District No. 2 has 
increased in value by $10,853,000. 
 
The increased value is sheltered from state funding calculations and county tax assessments.  The Town 
does not qualify for state aid for education.  If dissolved, the increased value will add 0.85% to the total 
valuation used to calculate revenue sharing and the county tax assessment.  By comparison, the Town’s 
revaluation effort, currently underway, is expected to add approximately 10% to the total valuation.  
Removing the valuation sheltered by the districts will have an overall negligible impact in light of the 
revaluation effort underway. 
 
The total balances for Districts 1 and 2, combined is $655,527.  These funds must be transferred to the 
general fund if the districts are dissolved, or the funds become unusable.  They can then be appropriated 
for projects that generally relate to the goals of the TIFs or other uses deemed beneficial by the Council.  
Based on the general goals of the two districts and the Town’s expressed priorities, the following uses 
are proposed: 
 
GIS Upgrade 
$40,000 for GIS upgrade.  The project is already underway and is expected to be complete within six 
months.  The project is being funded by the three TIF districts.  The proposed allocation represents 
District No. 1 and No. 2’s portion of the project costs. The GIS upgrade will provide a more accurate 
GIS mapping of Kittery’s parcels, zones, wetlands, vernal pools, infrastructure, and other features 
important to property owners, investors, and planners analyzing development options.  This project 
supports the overall goal of supporting development in the districts. 
 
Repaving of Route 1 
$400,000 for repaving Route 1 in FY23 (See CIP).  This project is part of the pavement management 
plan and is expected to cost approximately $1M, excluding drainage, sidewalk and intersection upgrades.  
The CIP has allocated $600,000 in FY23.  It has been the Town’s intention to use TIF funding to 
support the additional cost of the repaving project, as a means of maintaining existing infrastructure that 
serves the districts. 
 
Mass Transit 
$115,000 seed funding to bring mass transit to Kittery.  COAST is altering its bus service to the 
Shipyard. The new proposed service will provide a public fixed route bus service to the Foreside that 
runs hourly, on weekdays.  The Town and PNSY will need to share in the operational costs for the 
service.   
 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL   MEETING DATE FEBRUARY 24, 2020 

  UPDATED: MARCH 9, 2020 

3 

 

Additionally, the Town is working with COAST on a proposal to bring a fixed route bus service to the 
Mall Road area.  This would come with both an operational and capital cost.  Efforts are underway to 
identify federal and state funding; however, some financial support will be required by the Town to 
launch the service.    
 
Mass transit to Kittery serves a number of objectives including reducing vehicle congestion and parking 
constraints in the Foreside, reducing greenhouse gas emissions by providing a reliable alternative mode 
of transit, and appealing to the next generation of residents and workers seeking car-free or car-limited 
living and employment options.  This proposal is in line with the district project goals of bringing a 
“trolley” service to Kittery. 
 
The above proposals total $555,000; leaving $100,000 left for other needs.  The Council can choose to 
pass this to the unassigned fund balance, or use it for other purposes deemed beneficial to the town.  
Based on Council priorities expressed with the acceptance of the FY21-FY25 CIP, the following is 
recommended: 
 
Sidewalks, Ped/Bike Plans 
$100,000 for engineering for sidewalk extension on Stevenson Road and for seed funding for a 
Pedestrian/Bike Master Plan that identifies priorities for sidewalk and bike infrastructure investment and 
a plan for short/mid/long term objectives to inform the annual budget and CIP development.  
Estimated cost of engineering for the Stevenson Road extension is $85,000. Both the engineered plans 
and the master plan will set the Town up for implementation grants from MDOT and the MPO in 
future funding cycles. 
 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 

Amend Title 3 to eliminate TIF Districts No. 1 and No. 2 and appropriate funds as recommended.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 TIF Agreements – Districts 1 & 2 
 Appropriation Recommendations 
 Enactment to Dissolve Districts 1 & 2 
 Enactment to Appropriate Funds 

 



DRAFT: March 9, 2020 
 

1 
 

Title 3 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing Districts  

 
AMEND Title 3 as follows:  
§ 3.4.1 District designations and adoption.  1 
Municipal development and tax increment financing district(s) are hereby designated, to be known as District 2 
No. 1 (Mixed Use), District No. 2 (Route 1 Shopping Corridor), and District No. 3 (Business ParkMixed Use 3 
Neighborhood), and herewith is adopted the development program for such districts; such designations and 4 
adoptions to be pursuant to the following findings, terms and provisions.  District No. 1 and District No. 2 are 5 
hereby terminated and dissolved. 6 

§ 3.4.2 Findings and determinations.  7 
The Town Council hereby finds and determines that: 8 

A. At least 25%, by area, of the real property within the districts as herein designated, meets at least one of 9 
the following statutory criteria: 10 

(1) Must be a blighted area;  11 

(2) Must be in need of rehabilitation, redevelopment or conservation work; or  12 

(3) Must be suitable for commercial uses;  13 

B. The total area of the individual districts does not exceed 2% of the total acreage of the Town, and the 14 
total area of all three districts within the Town does not exceed 5% of the total acreage of the Town;  15 

C. The original assessed value of all existing and proposed tax increment financing districts does not 16 
exceed 5% of the total value of equalized taxable property within the Town as of March 31, 2010; and  17 

D. The designation of the districts and pursuit of the development program will make a contribution to the 18 
economic growth and well-being of the Town and the surrounding region and will contribute to the 19 
betterment of the health, welfare and safety of the inhabitants of the Town, including a broadened and 20 
improved tax base and economic stimulus, and therefore constitutes a good and valid public purpose.  21 

§ 3.4.3 Retention of captured assessed value.  22 
Pursuant to the provisions of Title 30-A M.R.S. § 5227, the percentage of increased assessed value to be 23 
retained as captured assessed value in accordance with the development program is hereby established as set 24 
forth in the development program. 25 

§ 3.4.4 Submission authority.  26 
The Town Manager is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to submit the proposed designation of the 27 
districts and the proposed development program for the districts to the State of Maine Department of 28 
Economic and Community Development for review and approval pursuant to the requirements of Title 30-A 29 
M.R.S. § 5226.  The Town Manager is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to complete any actions 30 



DRAFT: March 9, 2020 
 

2 
 

necessary to dissolve Districts No. 1 and No. 2. 31 

§ 3.4.5 Full force and effect.  32 
The foregoing designation of the district(s) and the adoption of the development program for the districts 33 
automatically becomes final and takes full force and effect upon receipt by the Town of approval of the 34 
designation of the districts and adoption of the development program by the State of Maine Department of 35 
Economic and Community Development, without requirement of further action by the Town, the Town 36 
Council or any other party. 37 

§ 3.4.6 Development program revisions.  38 
The Town Manager is hereby authorized and empowered, as may be necessary from time to time, to make 39 
such revisions to the development program for the districts as the Town Council deems reasonably necessary 40 
or convenient in order to facilitate the process for review and approval of the districts by the State of Maine 41 
Department of Economic and Community Development, or for any other reason, so long as such revisions 42 
are not inconsistent with this chapter or the basic structure and intent of the development program. 43 

§ 3.4.7 Credit enhancement agreements (CEA).  44 
A. Credit enhancement agreement(s) that may be entered into by the Town and one or more developers; 45 

description of the terms and conditions of any such agreement(s), contract(s) and obligation(s) to be 46 
entered into by the Town is set forth in the Maine DECD model agreement as part of the application to 47 
the state. Any such agreement is to be in the form approved by the Town Council with any changes 48 
thereto as determined appropriate by the Town Council after public hearing.  49 

B. Any credit enhancement agreement is to set forth the obligations of the Town to return to the applicable 50 
developer each year during the term of any such agreement the applicable tax increment (developer's 51 
share) as described in the model agreement.  52 

C. Any obligation of the Town to make such payments is to be a limited obligation payable solely from 53 
that portion of the tax increment constituting the tax increment (developer's share) actually paid by the 54 
applicable developer as property tax and does not constitute a general debt or obligation on the part of 55 
the Town or a general obligation or charge against or pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of 56 
the Town.  57 

§ 3.4.8 No use without development.  58 
With establishment of the district(s) and implementation of the development program, no tax revenues 59 
generated for the development program may be used for municipal improvements, or other reason, until and 60 
unless private development within the district(s) is approved, warranting the need for such improvements. An 61 
exception to that criterion is an amount from each district, if available, approved by Council as part of the 62 
annual capital improvement program process for the purpose of funding economic development 63 
administration. 64 



KITTERY TOWN CODE 

TITLE 3 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICTS 

 

DRAFT: March 9, 2020 
 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers that 6 
authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Town of Kittery approved the designation of Tax Increment Financing District 10 
No. 1 – Mixed Use, and Tax Increment Financing District No. 2 – Route 1 Shopping Corridor by 11 
ordinance in 2010; and 12 

WHEREAS, the Council finds that the intended use of Captured Assessed Value tax revenues 13 
is no longer in the best interest of the Town as described in the Development Programs; 14 

WHEREAS, the Council finds that future tax revenues in these Tax Increment Financing 15 
Districts should be made available for uses not currently allowed by the Development Programs; 16 
and 17 

WHEREAS, based on the foregoing, the Council finds that these Tax Increment Financing 18 
Districts are no longer necessary or effective for their established purposes; 19 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLES 30-A MRS §3001 AND §5226, AND 20 
TOWN CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS as follows: 21 

• Amendment to Title 3 of the Town Code as Presented;  22 

• Captured tax revenues remaining in the restricted accounts for these Tax Increment 23 
Financing Districts shall be transferred to the Town’s General Fund and made available 24 
for appropriation to fund any lawful expense; and 25 

• The Town Manager shall be authorized to complete any actions necessary to dissolve 26 
the Tax Increment Financing Districts No. 1 and No. 2. 27 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 28 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 29 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 30 

passed by a vote of _______. 31 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 32 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 33 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 34 



TOWN OF KITTERY 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICT FUNDS 

TRANSFER OF APPROPRIATIONS 

DRAFT: March 9, 2020 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 6.09(4) of the Town Charter; 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers that 6 
authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Council found the Tax Increment Financing Districts No. 1 and No. 2 to no 10 
longer be necessary or effective for their established purposes; 11 

WHEREAS, the Council transferred the tax revenues remaining in the restricted accounts for 12 
these Tax Increment Financing Districts to the General Fund and made them available for 13 
appropriation; and 14 

WHEREAS, the Town Manager has submitted a written request to transfer the funds to various 15 
reserve accounts to fund activities and projects consistent with the Town Council’s goals; 16 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLE 30-A MRS §3001 AND TOWN CHARTER 17 
§6.09(4) THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS THE TRANSFER OF FUNDS AS18 
PRESENTED, TO BE ENACTED UPON THE DISOLUTION OF THE TAX INCREMENT 19 
FINANCING DISTRICTS NO. 1 AND NO. 2. 20 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 21 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 22 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 23 

passed by a vote of _______. 24 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 25 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 26 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 27 



Report to Council
TAX INCREMENT FINANCING FUNDS 
DRAFT: March 9, 2020

AVAILABLE  $    655,527 
PURPOSE

4002 Right of Way  $    400,000  Route 1 Repaving in FY23
4122 Zoning Recodification and GIS Upgrade  $      40,000  GIS Upgrade (underway)
NEW Mass Transit  $    115,000  Seed funding: Fixed Bus Route Foreside, Capital for Bus Route to Mall Road
4002 Right of Way  $    100,000  Stevenson Sidewalk Ext Engineering, Ped/Bike Master Plan
BALANCE TO REMAIN IN GENERAL FUND  $            527 

FUND



 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: March 9, 2020 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Gorges Road Warrant Article 

 
 
This project is proposed as a “net-neutral project” relative to capital costs, meaning the costs to construct 
the expansion of Gorges Road and move the ambulance service is expected to be paid back by the sale of 
the Walker Street Fire Station.  
 
We received a revised concept budget for the cost to expand the Gorges Road Fire Station.  The project is 
expected to be a design-build project, meaning the contractor will also be responsible to provide the 
construction documents/designs.  The conceptual cost estimate came in higher than originally scoped due 
to the strong economy and other factors. 
 
We have also received a preliminary appraised value for the Walker Street Fire Station.  The preliminary 
figure is lower than expected. Since it is still in the development phase, we have not had an opportunity to 
evaluate the factors contributing to the proposed value.  The final appraisal report is still in development. 
 
The purpose of the project is still relevant, valid, and something the Town should pursue.  We believe the 
construction cost and appraised value can achieve a net neutral project.  However, we do not have the 
data in hand at this time to properly assure the Council and voters that it will be net neutral.   
 
OPTIONS 
Our options are 1) to reword the warrant article to be more general and continue to work the appraisal 
and cost estimate, or 2) to withdraw the article and reintroduce it when we have analyzed this information 
more thoroughly and can provide the appropriate assurances regarding the projects financial impact. 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 

I am respectfully requesting the Council cancel the public hearing, and allow the proposed warrant article 
for Gorges Road to be withdrawn.  
 
We will seek to reintroduce the article for the November ballot, contingent up on being able to prove out 
the finances. 



GORGES ROAD STATION EXPANSION 
WARRANT ARTICLE 
 
Article X. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council to transfer up to $ 400,000 from 
unassigned funds (unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to $400,000 for the expansion 
of the Gorges Road Fire Station to house the ambulance service; and to surplus and sell, in accordance 
with Town Ordinance, the Walker Street Fire Station, located at 25 Walker Street, with sale proceeds, 
equal to cost of the Gorges Road Fire Station expansion, returned to the unassigned funds, and any other 
proceeds in excess of the expansion costs, assigned in a manner approved by the Town Council? 
 
Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation: 
 
The Town Council has determined that the Gorges Road Fire Station is a more advantageous site for the 
ambulance service than the current Walker Street Fire Station.  The Gorges Road station will require an 
expansion to house the ambulance service, to include two ambulance bays, a small living quarters for 
bunking of staff, an office area, and an upgrade to the existing kitchen.  Upon completion of the 
expansion, the Walker Street station will be sold, with proceeds directed to reimburse the expenditures 
made from undesignated funds toward the Gorges Road Station.  The Council will direct the allocation of 
any excess proceeds in accordance with the Town Code.  The Walker Street station is appraised at 
$_______. 
  
 
 



WOOD ISLAND PIER 
WARRANT ARTICLE 
 
 
Article X. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council enter into a grant agreement with Wood 
Island Life Saving Station, a 501(c) 3 organization, and transfer up to $500,000 from unassigned funds 
(unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to and no more than $500,000 for the grant to 
support construction of a public pier at Wood Island? 
 

Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation: 
This article will provide public funds from the Town of Kittery for the amount of up to, but not to 
exceed, $500,000 for the construction of a pier to serve Wood Island, a town owned property, and the 
Wood Island Life Saving Station Museum operated by the Wood Island Life Saving Station 
Association.   
 
The Town Council will develop and enter into a grant agreement that establishes the grant terms and 
conditions, and develop and enact any appropriate amendments to the Concession, Repair and 
Maintenance Agreements with Wood Island Life Saving Station Association. 
 



 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: March 9, 2020 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Title 5 – Short Term Rental 

Councilor Sponsor: Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
 
OVERVIEW 
Short Term Rental regulation has been listed on the Town Council’s and Planning Board’s objectives lists 
for a number of years.  The Accessory Dwelling Unit ordinance amendments recently approved put the 
Short-Term Rental (STR) effort on a critical path. 
 
The proposed ordinance focuses on tracking and monitoring STRs in town, rather than restricting them.  
It is not conceived as a land-use regulation, rather a licensing requirement.  For this reason, the proposal is 
to amend Title 5 rather than Title 16. 
 
By adopting this ordinance, the Town will be more informed about where and how many STRs exist. It 
also provides a mechanism to address quality of life issues that arise as these business operations take 
place in primarily residential neighborhoods.   
 
PROCESS 
The STR ordinance was developed utilizing examples from municipalities in Maine and New Hampshire 
and the Town’s own existing licensing code.  The proposed ordinance has been reviewed by the Kittery 
Land Issues Committee, Code Enforcement, and our public safety departments.  It has also been the 
subject of two workshops with the Town Council and Planning Board. 
 
PROPOSED ORDINANCE 
The STR ordinance was developed to allow short term rental operations in residential dwelling units with 
the goal of protecting the quality of life of the surrounding residential neighborhood from unreasonable or 
unsafe intrusions and nuisances inappropriate to a residential setting.   
 
The ordinance applies to any residential dwelling unit, or portion thereof used for a rental period of less 
than 30 consecutive days.  Rentals that exceed thirty consecutive days, hotels, motels, boarding houses, 
and other types of commercial-lodging operations are exempted. 
 
The ordinance requires property owners to license their short-term rental annually.  This will allow the 
Town to record and track how many short-term rentals are in Kittery.  The Town staff will utilize existing 
analytic technology to determine if there are unlicensed STR units advertised and follow-up with notice 
and possible enforcement. 
 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL  MARCH 9, 2020 

2 

 

The ordinance has generally low-threshold standards for the license including having an emergency 
contact on file, providing adequate parking for guests, and ensuring homes and/or rooms are not being 
overcrowded to a level that is unsafe.   
 
The occupancy limit has been set to two guests per bedroom to address concerns of unsafe overcrowding.  
A higher occupancy limit can be obtained, upon application to the Town, and inspection and approval of 
the Code Enforcement Officer and the Fire Chief. 
 
A license can be denied (or denied renewal), suspended or revoked if there are three or more substantiated 
complaints of criminal or ordinance violations associated with the property. This provides some recourse 
to address the concern of noise, disturbing the neighborhood peace, parking intrusions and other issues 
that may occur from STR units.   
 
The overall intent is to be as permissive as possible with STRs while providing some level of recourse if 
STRs are a disproportionate cause of disturbance in a neighborhood.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 

- Title 5 – Short Term Rental Ordinance 
- Draft Title 5 – Short Term Rental Enactment 

 



  DRAFT: March 9, 2020 

1 
 

ADD 5.12 SHORT TERM RENTAL as follows: 

§5.12.1 Purpose 1 
The use and intent of these regulations is to ensure that any home-based short-term rental 2 
business operates in a manner that respects the neighborhood in which it is situated.  The 3 
regulations allow short term rental operations in residential dwelling units with the goal of 4 
protecting the quality of life of the surrounding residential neighborhood from unreasonable or 5 
unsafe intrusions and nuisances inappropriate to a residential setting.   6 
 7 
§5.12.2 Definitions 8 
Owner means a person who is the owner of record of real property as documented by deed or 9 
other document evidencing ownership recorded at the York County Registry of Deeds. 10 

Short-term rental means the use, control, management or operation of a dwelling unit or 11 
accessory dwelling unit, in whole or in part for dwelling, sleeping or lodging purposes for 12 
periods of less than 30 consecutive days; for compensation, directly or indirectly. 13 

§ 5.12.3 Applicability 14 
A. This Chapter applies to any residential dwelling unit, room within a dwelling unit, or 15 

accessory dwelling unit that is rented, in whole or in part, for a period of less than thirty 16 
consecutive days, for compensation, directly or indirectly. 17 

B. Exclusions. Excluded from this chapter are: 18 
(1) Dwelling units used, in whole or in part, for dwelling, sleeping or lodging purposes for 19 

periods 30 consecutive days or greater. 20 
(2) Lodging establishments such as hotels, motels, bed and breakfasts, inns, boarding or 21 

rooming houses.  22 

C. Nothing contained in this Chapter shall supersede any condominium, homeowner, or 23 
restrictive deed covenants that apply to dwelling unit. 24 

§ 5.12.4 License Required 25 
A. No person shall advertise or operate a short-term rental without a license issued by the Code 26 
Enforcement Officer. 27 

B. Non-refundable fees for the license are set out in Appendix A. 28 

C. Short-term rental licenses must be renewed on an annual basis.  Each license issued under 29 
this chapter expires one year from issuance. 30 

D. Each licensee will receive a certificate issued by the Code Enforcement Officer stating the 31 
license number, valid license period, occupancy limit for the unit, the name and emergency 32 
contact information of the operator of the short-term rental, and the name and contact 33 
information of the property owner if different than the operator. 34 

E. Each license issued is not transferrable to any other person, or from location to location, and 35 
is valid only at the location and for the person designated.  Any change in ownership of the 36 
dwelling unit will require a new license. 37 



  DRAFT: March 9, 2020 

2 
 

§ 5.12.5 Standards 38 
A. Owner: Only the owner of the property can register the dwelling unit to be used for short-39 

term rental. 40 

B. Occupancy limits.  41 

(1) No more than one rental contract is allowed per dwelling unit at any one time.   42 

(2) No more than two guests per bedroom are allowed, unless otherwise approved by the 43 
Code Enforcement Officer and the Fire Chief or their respective designees.  Increased 44 
occupancy limits may be granted upon application to the Code Enforcement Officer 45 
and inspection of the dwelling unit. 46 

F. Property Taxes Current. No property may be licensed for short-term rental if the property has 47 
an existing foreclosure or lien from the Town for non-payment of taxes.  48 

G. Emergency Contact. The owner must provide their emergency contact information or identify 49 
a person that will serve as an agent or representative for emergency contact purposes.  The 50 
emergency contact person must be able to respond to complaints regarding the condition, 51 
safety or operation of the dwelling unit as a short-term rental, or the conduct of guests, and 52 
take remedial action to resolve such complaints.  The owner must notify the Town and 53 
provide updated contact information if the contact person or information changes. 54 

H. License number. Licenses will be issued with a unique license number.  The license number 55 
must be displayed within the dwelling unit and in all advertising for the short-term rental of 56 
the dwelling unit. 57 

I. Parking.  58 

(1) The owner must provide sufficient on-site parking to serve the residential dwelling unit(s) 59 
and the short-term rental unit(s) on the property.  The total number of on-site parking spaces 60 
will be the calculated as the number of spaces required for the dwelling unit per Chapter 61 
16.8.9.4 plus one parking space for each short-term rental unit on the property.       62 

(2) Required on-site parking may be satisfied at off-site locations, provided such parking is 63 
on other property owned by the applicant or is under the terms of a contractual agreement 64 
that will ensure such parking remains available for the uses served. Applicant must present 65 
evidence of a parking location and a contractual agreement indicating the availability of the 66 
parking to the Code Enforcement Officer for review and approval prior to issuance of a 67 
license.  68 

§ 5.12.6 Complaints 69 
Complaints of criminal or ordinance violations associated with the operation of short-term 70 
rentals brought to the attention of the Code Enforcement Officer or Police Department will be 71 
logged and investigated.    72 
 73 
§ 5.12.7 Denial, Suspension, or Revocation of License 74 



  DRAFT: March 9, 2020 

3 
 

A. Denial. The Code Enforcement Officer may deny a license or license renewal upon failure of 75 
the applicant to meet all of the requirements of this Chapter, or for three or more 76 
substantiated criminal or ordinance violations associated with the property within the prior 77 
twelve months.   78 

B. Suspension or revocation. The Code Enforcement Officer may suspend or revoke a license 79 
for violation of any provisions of this Chapter, or for three or more substantiated criminal or 80 
ordinance violations associated with the property within a twelve-month period.   81 

a. A license may be suspended for no longer than six months, during which time the 82 
dwelling unit may not be used as a short-term rental. 83 

b. A license may be revoked and cannot be reissued for twelve months.  The Code 84 
Enforcement Officer may authorize the reissuance of a license if they find sufficient 85 
corrective action has been taken to prevent violations in the future. 86 

§ 5.12.8 Violations 87 
A. Any violation of this Chapter will be assessed a penalty of $500.  Each day any violation of 88 

this Chapter continues constitutes a separate offense.   89 
 

AMEND Appendix A as follows: 90 
Chapter 5.12 SHORT TERM RENTAL 91 
Short term rental license       $50/annually 92 
Increased occupancy limit application     $100/one time 93 



KITTERY TOWN CODE –  

SHORT TERM RENTALS 

DRAFT: March 9, 2020 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; and 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers 6 
that authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council seeks to ensure short-term renal businesses operate in a 10 
manner that respects the residential neighborhoods in which they are situated; and 11 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council seeks to protect the quality of life of the surrounding 12 
residential neighborhoods from unreasonable or unsafe intrusions and nuisances inappropriate 13 
to a residential setting;  14 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLE 30-A MRS §3001, AND TOWN 15 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS THE ESTABLISHMENT OF 16 
TITLE 5.12 SHORT TERM RENTALS,OF THE TOWN CODE, AS PRESENTED. 17 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 18 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 19 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 20 

passed by a vote of _______. 21 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 22 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 23 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 24 



TOWN OF KITTERY  
TOWN MEETING WARRANT 

JUNE 9, 2020 
 

To Robert V. Richter, a Constable of the Town of Kittery, in the County of York, State of Maine. 
 
In the name of the State of Maine, you are hereby required to notify and warn the inhabitants of the 
Town of Kittery in said county and state, qualified by law to vote in town affairs: 
 
To meet at the Municipal Complex Council Chambers in said town on Monday the 8th day of June 
2020, at 6:00 p.m. to hold a public hearing on Articles 2 through ___. 
 
To act on Article 1 to elect a moderator by written ballot and to act on Articles 2 through 8 by secret 
ballot at the Kittery Community Center Gymnasium in said town on Tuesday, the 9th day of June, 2020 
at 8:00 a.m., as set out below, to wit: 
 
The polls will be open from 8:00 a.m. until 8:00 p.m. 
 
Absentee ballots will be processed centrally at 9:00 a.m., 10:00 a.m., 11:00 a.m., 12:00 p.m., 1:00 
p.m., 2:00 p.m., 3:00 p.m., 4:00 p.m., 5:00 p.m., 6:00 p.m., 7:00 p.m., and 8:00 p.m. 
 
Article 1. To elect a moderator to preside at said meeting and to vote by written ballot. 

 
Article 2. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council to transfer up to $125,000 from unassigned 
funds (unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to $125,000 when necessary to maintain a 
positive fund balance in the Compensated Absences account and to pay for accrued vacation and/or sick 
leave to settle any unpaid benefits owed to retired or terminated employees in the fiscal year? 
 

Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation:  
The purpose of this article is to provide funds from the town’s unassigned funds (unencumbered 

surplus) to pay for accrued benefits owed when a municipal employee retires or leaves. The reserve 
account balance is currently $38,922. The unassigned fund balance (unencumbered surplus) is currently 
$6,313,900. 

 
Article 3. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council to transfer up to $25,000 from unassigned 
funds (unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to $25,000 when necessary for the 
purpose of paying the town’s cost on accepted insurance claims against the town? 
 

Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation:  
The purpose of this article is to provide funds from the town’s unassigned funds (unencumbered surplus) 
to pay the deductible and other associated costs on insurance claims that may be made in the fiscal year. 
The unassigned fund balance (unencumbered surplus) is currently $6,313,900. 

 



Article 4. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council to transfer up to $100,000 from 
unassigned funds (unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to $100,000 when necessary 
for the purpose of providing the town’s match to federal, state, and non-profit grants? 

Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation:  
Grant applications are filed by different town departments to assist with the operations and capital 
purchases. These grants, if successful, often require a local match to be raised. The purpose of this 
article is to provide funds from the town’s unassigned funds (unencumbered surplus) when and if 
necessary, for the purpose of meeting grant match requirements. The unassigned fund balance 
(unencumbered surplus) is currently $6,313,900. 

 
Article 5. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council to transfer up to $40,000 from unassigned 
funds (unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to $40,000 when necessary for the 
purpose of covering shortfalls in the town departments’ fuel accounts due to the unpredictable fuel 
pricing markets? 
 

Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation:  
The purpose of this article is to provide departments, who have exhausted their allocated fuel budgets in 
the fiscal year, access to funds for fuel needs. The Town Council favored keeping the fiscal year fuel and 
utility accounts as low as possible, with this article making available surplus funds as a safety net in case 
of an unstable market for fuel. The unassigned fund balance (unencumbered surplus) is currently 
$6,313,900. 

 
Article 6. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council to transfer up to $40,000 from unassigned 
funds (unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to $40,000 when necessary for the purpose 
of providing for the town’s General Assistance Program as required by town, state, and federal laws in the 
fiscal year? 
 

Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation:  
The General Assistance Program is budgeted from the town’s operational budget each year. The program 
assists town citizens with welfare type services by following very strict state and federal guidelines for 
income eligibility within the General Assistance Ordinance. The purpose of this article is to create a 
method for the Town Council to supplement the General Assistance budget if needed. The unassigned 
fund balance (unencumbered surplus) is currently $6,313,900. 

 
Article 7. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council to transfer up to $50,000 from unassigned 
funds (unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to $50,000 when necessary for the purpose 
of paying for emergency repairs and energy efficiency improvements to town-owned facilities that are not 
contemplated in the regular fiscal year operating budget? 
 

Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation:  



Occasionally, repairs to town facilities are needed that have not been budgeted. In addition, energy 
efficiency projects are being identified to further save the town funds. The purpose of this article is to 
allow the Town Council to make unplanned emergency facility repairs and undertake energy efficiency 
projects that may arise in the fiscal year. The unassigned fund balance (unencumbered surplus) is 
currently $6,313,900. 
 
Article 8. Shall the town vote to authorize the Town Council to transfer up to $ 50,000 from 
unassigned funds (unencumbered surplus) and appropriate and expend up to $50,000 for a Municipal 
Property Tax Assistance program to credit property taxes owed by certain residents that meet the 
program requirements? 
 

Town Council Recommends – Vote: Yes ____  No ____ 
 
Explanation:  
The Senior Tax Credit program allows for taxpayers of a certain age, income level, and other qualifying 
requirements to receive a credit on their property taxes each year. The program assists seniors with their 
property tax obligations and makes it easier for them to remain in their homes. The unassigned fund 
balance (unencumbered surplus) is currently $6,313,900. 
 
 
 
 
The Registrar of Voters will office hours while the polls are open to correct any error in, or change a 
name or address on, the voting list; to accept registration of any person who becomes 18 years of age 
on Election Day or after the close of registration prior to it; and to accept new enrollments. 
 
A person who is not registered as a voter may not vote in any election. 
 
Dated at Kittery this ______ day of ________ 2020. 
 
 

 
_________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
 
_________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
 
_________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
 
_________________________________  

Municipal Officers 
 
 
A true copy 
 
ATTEST: __________________________________________  

Town Clerk 



RETURN ON THE WARRANT 
 
 

 

County of York  
of Maine 

 
 

 

State 

 
Pursuant to the within warrant to me directed, I have notified and warned the inhabitants of 

Kittery, qualified as herein expressed, to meet at said time and place, and for the purposes therein 

named, by posting an attested copy of said warrant at the Kittery and Kittery Point Post Offices, 

Kittery Municipal Office, Kittery Community Center, and Kittery Resource Recovery Facility in 

said town, being public and conspicuous places in said town on 

_______________________________, 2020, being at least seven days before the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 

Robert V. Richter 

 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 

Date 
































































	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	2020.03.09 Title 3 TIFs.pdf
	ADPFA5C.tmp
	AMEND Title 3 as follows:
	§ 3.4.1 District designations and adoption.
	§ 3.4.2 Findings and determinations.
	§ 3.4.3 Retention of captured assessed value.
	§ 3.4.4 Submission authority.
	§ 3.4.5 Full force and effect.
	§ 3.4.6 Development program revisions.
	§ 3.4.7 Credit enhancement agreements (CEA).
	§ 3.4.8 No use without development.

	ADPC25.tmp
	AMEND Title 3 as follows:
	§ 3.4.1 District designations and adoption.
	§ 3.4.2 Findings and determinations.
	§ 3.4.3 Retention of captured assessed value.
	§ 3.4.4 Submission authority.
	§ 3.4.5 Full force and effect.
	§ 3.4.6 Development program revisions.
	§ 3.4.7 Credit enhancement agreements (CEA).
	§ 3.4.8 No use without development.


	Blank Page



